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Rochdale Town Hall by Edward Walker, 1875.
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Virginia Park, previously the Holloway Sanatorium.
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Royal Holloway, University of London.
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Crossland: a note on the name


The name ‘Crossland’ pinpoints very precisely the origins of William Henry Crossland.1 Crosland (one ‘s’) is a Huddersfield name that derives from Crosland Moor, an area to the south-west of the town. The 1881 census results show those having the name mostly limited to the Huddersfield area, with a few in Leeds, but no significant numbers anywhere else in the country. It comes as a surprise that, although sometimes recorded with only one ‘s’, W.H. Crossland’s family generally used a double ‘s’ in their name. So unusual was this spelling in the Huddersfield area that a report in a local paper describing Crossland’s first work made a reasonable assumption and spelled the name with one ‘s’.2 It was also spelled with only one ‘s’ on some official documents such as census entries.


The name spelled with a double ‘s’ is also a localised name in the West Riding of Yorkshire. In 1881, it was used predominantly nearby in the Wakefield area, but spreading over Halifax, Sheffield, Leeds, Bradford and Huddersfield. Crossland’s father spelled his name with a double ‘s’, suggesting that previous generations of his family may have moved from Huddersfield to one of the neighbouring towns and adopted the local spelling of the name, which was then retained by a later generation on moving back to Huddersfield. This would account for the unfamiliar spelling among the Croslands of Huddersfield. As if to emphasise the difference in the spelling of his name from the more usual single ‘s’ in the Huddersfield area, early in his career William Henry sometimes used the β symbol for the double ‘s’ in his name.


His name would undoubtedly have been an advantage as the young architect began to make his way professionally. Crossland’s early work kept him almost exclusively in the West Riding, where, whether his name was spelled with a single or double ‘s’, he would have been recognised as a local man, even before potential clients met him, inspiring confidence and a reassurance that he would instinctively understand how best to design buildings suitable for the West Riding.
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W.H. Crossland’s usual signature.








1. http://gbnames.publicprofiler.org/ (accessed 30 November 2015).



2. The Huddersfield Chronicle and West Yorkshire Advertiser, 29 March 1856, Issue 315, p. 6.







[image: image]

William Henry Crossland.








Introduction


At the lavish opening ceremony of the Royal Holloway College in 1886, William Henry Crossland presented Queen Victoria with an album of his drawings of Royal Holloway College – the phantasmagoria of a building he had created for Thomas Holloway in Egham, Surrey. This, Crossland must have reflected, was truly the high point of his life and of his career and a long way from the Huddersfield quarry business where he had grown up. A well-known and much-praised architect, he proudly offered the Queen his own work in a gesture that underlined the extent of his success. As he gloried in the admiration of his College – a highly successful architect at the peak of his career – he could never have foreseen that in just a few years, he would have fallen from this peak into obscurity.


W.H. Crossland is often described using terms such as ‘maverick’, ‘enigma’ and ‘mysterious’. Indeed, among the architects of the second half of the nineteenth century who have left great buildings for posterity, Crossland has remained a shadowy figure, although he has also been described as one of the finest architects of the day.1 In addition to the Royal Holloway College, his portfolio includes two more glorious buildings now listed as Grade I, as well as a collection of more than twenty other listed buildings2, that does not include his restoration work on ancient churches (several of which are also listed at Grade 1). He is known to have built seventeen churches and to have restored or rebuilt another thirteen, but there may be more of his work that is still unknown. He also designed many secular buildings. It has been said of him that his ‘versatility in adapting historical styles was astonishing, even among Victorian architects’.3 Yet, despite most of his buildings surviving to the present day, little is known of him and almost nothing is known of the last few years of his life. No obituary was written for him and his burial or cremation place is a secret still waiting to be discovered.


Several people, including Sir John Betjeman, have tried hard to uncover Crossland’s secrets, but have always come across gaps in information, loose ends and big question marks. So far as is known, he left no diaries, logbooks or other records of his work, and, towards the end of his life, he destroyed all the work he had in his possession. His work was documented in architectural journals, but the only substantial piece of writing linked directly to him is the record of an address he gave to the Royal Institute of British Architects in 1887, the year after the formal opening of the College. This address is preserved among the Transactions of the R.I.B.A.. Copies of plans of some of his buildings, a few letters and a small number of other documents are scattered thinly over several archives, but these sources paint only a partial picture.


Much of what little is known about Crossland is by way of short accounts, with surprisingly little connection made between his work in the north of England and his work in the south. The most substantial pieces of work on Crossland, so far, are a master’s degree thesis by L.J. Whitaker, submitted in 1984 and held by Manchester University, and an account by Edward Law, dated 1992 and published on the internet.4 However, recently available digitised material has provided information that was unavailable to earlier researchers, filling some of the gaps, tying off some of the loose ends and providing some answers regarding Crossland’s life and career. In particular, the nineteenth-century newspapers digital archive5 and online archive catalogues proved to be rich resources.


It is clear that Crossland had a good, even privileged, start in life. His architectural training was under George Gilbert Scott, which gave him a certain status, and he went on to seek out and grasp opportunities. He ran a busy practice in the West Riding of Yorkshire mostly designing and building churches, for which he established a good reputation. He also designed numerous secular buildings, particularly in his home town of Huddersfield, but also nearby in Elland, Halifax, Dewsbury and Leeds. Only a few of his Yorkshire projects took him further afield. He travelled abroad several times during his life, visiting France and Belgium, and, according to Edward Law, he went to Switzerland when he was working on Rochdale Town Hall. He also spent time in Canada.


Little is known of the office support that Crossland had. He mentioned ‘assistants’ and ‘clerks’ occasionally in some of his letters, and from around 1867 his Chief Assistant was essential to the success of many of Crossland’s projects. This was Mr A.J. Taylor, who worked for Crossland for more than a decade. He may also have employed the architect William Bakewell for a while at the end of the 1860s.6 It would have been normal practice to take on architectural pupils both for the fees such training would provide and because routine drafting tasks could have been given to pupils, allowing Crossland to pursue more strategic obligations. However, details of pupils, if any, remain unknown.


Few images of Crossland remain and almost nothing is known of his personality, although the designer C.R. Ashbee said of him: ‘I like him – he is a fine quiet man with a dreamlike dignity in him.’7 He won the long-term confidence of wealthy patrons, suggesting reliability, honesty, integrity, hard work, fairness and the ability to work to schedules and deadlines. This confidence in him was to yield large dividends.


Alongside his architectural skills, Crossland was also a talented artist. He sketched and painted, mentioning his sketches in his report preceding the restoration of Almondbury Church.8 He exhibited at the Royal Academy first in 1855 and then from 1869 (when he moved his office to London) for the next fifteen years.9 Little of his artwork remains, but the Royal Holloway archive holds a charcoal cartoon by him showing the interior of the chapel. He understood the precarious role of artists, and in his address to the R.I.B.A. in 1887, he devoted a considerable part of his speech to a plea for sculptors to be better recognised and supported.


Until he moved south, his work held almost entirely to the tenets of the Gothic revival and his churches show a clear understanding of Gothic forms10, revealing him as a true disciple of his master, George Gilbert Scott, and of the principles of Augustus Pugin that Scott so thoroughly absorbed. His style was generally based on the Decorated or ‘Second Pointed’ style, but included elements from earlier periods, which he combined with confidence. It was not until much later in his career that he showed any interest in other architectural styles, and even in his later work elements of Gothic are often evident. Some consider that his buildings in Huddersfield have been undeservedly overlooked nationally in favour of his three magnificent buildings that are now listed at Grade 1.11


Crossland designed churches only for the Church of England. He was a member of the Ecclesiological Society and subscribed to their journal, The Ecclesiologist.12 He was therefore well aware of the Society’s design guidelines for new churches and restorations, and he designed with its principles in mind, several of his designs being reviewed in the journal. His early church buildings were mostly in Huddersfield or within a few miles of that town and all were built of stone, as there was a plentiful supply from the quarries in the locality. He understood how decorative stone and wood carving could bring a building alive and, depending on the funds available, used it as much possible, favouring a local Yorkshire sculptor by the name of Samuel Ruddock to work on several of his Yorkshire churches. As Whitaker observed, ‘His largest and most important churches show Crossland to be aware of the ideas prevalent in contemporary church architecture and also to be capable of originality and experiment.’13


Throughout the 1860s, church-building provided Crossland’s main income. The character of his church designs depended on the funding available, and there was a great difference between, for instance, St Stephen the Martyr, Copley, near Halifax (1865), which had the support of a wealthy patron, and St James the Great, Flockton (1869), which was built with limited funds. He also designed shops, houses, lodges, schools and offices and attempted to secure larger projects by entering architectural competitions. The number of commercial and other non-church commissions increased as he established his reputation as a talented architect, and the major buildings of his career amply demonstrate his outstanding architectural ability.


This book sets out to place William Henry Crossland in his rightful position in the pantheon of great Victorian architects. Drawing on recently available material, as well as the work of earlier researchers, it attempts to provide a more detailed picture than has previously been available of a man who wrote of himself, ‘I found myself leading a life we architects read about but few experience.’14 The narrative is chronological with glimpses of his private life and discussion of his building projects as he worked on them. Some of his works were completed quickly and some needed a protracted period of development so that, at any one time, he was managing several projects at varying stages of maturity, including both new buildings and restorations. A hectic work programme becomes evident, as these projects, particularly later in his career, could be some 200 miles apart at a time when transport was limited.


This is the first account of Crossland’s life that places him at the centre of the narrative, unravelling some of the mysteries in his history and enabling, for the first time, an appreciation and understanding of his life and work. It is supported by new photographs and contemporary images.
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Chapter 1



Early years


William Henry Crossland was born into a prosperous family of working-class origins in 1835 in Elland, near Halifax in the West Riding of Yorkshire. He was baptised in the ancient parish church of St Mary in Elland on 10 May 1835.1 His parents were Henry Crossland (1806-77) and Ellen (née Wilkinson, 1812-67).


His father’s birthplace was Halifax2, and Ellen was born in Lindley, a village in the parish of Halifax.3 They both seem to have moved to Huddersfield before their wedding, as when they were married on 19 August 1832 at Huddersfield Parish Church, they were both stated to be of that parish. Henry signed the register and Ellen made her mark, implying she was not literate. William Henry had one elder brother, James, who was born in Huddersfield in 1833 and who, by 1851, was employed as a clerk in a woollen mill. Their father was described as a mason on William Henry’s birth certificate.4 During the 1850s and 1860s, he was also a churchwarden at the nearby church of St. John’s, Bay Hall, suggesting that the brothers were brought up in an active Anglican family.


William Henry’s childhood home was Longwood House, Netheroyd Hill, some three miles north of the centre of Huddersfield5, rented by his father from the Thornhill family of Fixby Hall, Huddersfield.


This was a substantial house, indicating his father’s business standing. It was in a rural area where the natural landscape was scarred by quarries. Nearby were the woodlands of Fixby Hall and Bradley Park, possibly part of the long wood from which the house took its name.6 The 1841 census described Henry Crossland ungenerously as a stone delver – or an ordinary quarryman. In fact, Crossland’s father was the manager of a stone quarry – a ‘quarry master’ and a ‘respectable stone merchant’, according to the agent of the local estate, writing to his superior in 1845.7




[image: image]

1.1 Longwood House, Crossland’s childhood home. Photograph taken in January 2017, when the house was undergoing restoration.





Quarrying was an important industry in the West Riding in the nineteenth century. Henry Crossland rented his quarry from the Ramsden family who were lords of the manor of Huddersfield and owned most of the land in and around that town.8 By the time of the 1851 census, Henry Crossland was a successful businessman employing twenty men and described as a quarry owner. His success was underlined by the fact that the census described his sixteen-year-old son, William Henry, as a scholar. At this time, continuation in education into the teens was unusual for someone with a working-class background and indicated a sufficiently comfortable financial standing to allow school fees to be afforded.
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1.2 Huddersfield College by J.P. Pritchett of York. This exciting building with Tudor styling, corner turrets and battlements would have been intended to inspire the college’s pupils.





School


William Henry’s parents realised that they had a talented son and had the means to pay for him to have the best education that was available locally. He became a pupil at Huddersfield College, a school of non-conformist foundation for boys, taking day pupils from the immediate locality and boarding pupils from throughout England and from Ireland. The school was founded in 1838, opening in 1839 in temporary accommodation. The foundation stone for its substantial purpose-built home was laid in March 1839 in New North Road, Huddersfield. Crossland will have joined the school at the age of thirteen in 1848, or possibly at age eleven. Either way, he joined a fairly new but nonetheless prestigious institution in a building that was meant to impress, designed by J.P. Pritchett of York. The school building was also intended to inspire its pupils, and the architecture would have been exciting to a boy of Crossland’s interests, skills and knowledge.


Crossland amply justified his parents’ confidence in him. He achieved success at school, winning two prizes in June 1851, at the age of sixteen. This was a considerable achievement for a local boy, as it was the boarders who tended to take most of the prizes since they had the opportunity for more tuition (‘instruction’) in the evening. The account of the Annual Examination and distribution of prizes in the local newspaper reported that the event took place in the College Hall on 18 June 1851.9 The work of the pupils was laid out for inspection. Among this work were displayed examples of Crossland’s writing and mechanical drawing and it was noted that ‘specimens . . . of writing by Master W.H. Crossland and of mechanical drawing . . . were of a high order of merit’.


He was awarded a prize, in the form of a medal10, in the Mathematical Department for ‘Book-keeping and Writing’ and another medal prize for an ‘extra subject’. This was Drawing, indicating that his artistic skills were well developed by his mid-teens. He also received a special prize: the Vice President’s Silver Pen for Penmanship, a prize for the pupil judged best at writing. As well as these prizes, Crossland was awarded a Certificate of General Merit (one of twelve that were awarded). His name was mentioned no fewer than six times in the newspaper account of the prize-giving.


In around 1852, after a successful school career, during which William Henry had demonstrated his ability in English and draughtsmanship, arrangements were made for him to be articled to George Gilbert Scott in London. This was true recognition of the potential of the boy, as Scott had an established and widely recognised reputation. The mid-1850s saw his practice working on ‘more commissions for new churches and restorations than the average architect would see in a lifetime’.11 He ran the largest and best organised architectural practice in England and rose to pre-eminence among architects. He could afford to be selective in the pupils he took into his practice, and it is likely that Crossland’s particular talent in drawing won him his place in Scott’s office. Scott charged a premium, or fee, that would have placed his practice beyond the aspirations of many would-be architects. At as much as 300 guineas12, the premium represented a considerable investment on the part of William’s father. Additional parental support was also necessary for the not inconsiderable living expenses for the young Crossland in London. The fact that he was able to afford this payment demonstrates clearly the financial strength of Henry Crossland’s quarrying business.


How the young Crossland was introduced to Scott is not known. It is possible that Scott visited Henry Crossland’s quarry to inform himself of local building materials, as was his practice, in finding local stone for the building of All Souls’ Church, Haley Hill, Halifax, for which the foundation stone was laid in 1856. It is possible also that an introduction was through the Reverend Josiah Bateman, who was the vicar of Huddersfield between 1840 and 1855 and who knew Scott.13 Bateman probably knew Henry Crossland through the latter’s role as churchwarden at St John’s, a church not far from Bateman’s own. George Gilbert Scott’s father had been Bateman’s tutor, and Bateman had formed a friendship with Scott at that time.


The Reverend Bateman was instrumental in the building of a new church at Longroyd Bridge, near Huddersfield, funded by a local family. Taking advantage of his friendship with Scott, he had commissioned plans, which Scott duly provided.14 The new church was built between 1857 and 1859, dedicated to St Thomas. Whether or not Bateman was instrumental in introducing William Henry to George Gilbert Scott, the latter is likely to have visited the Crossland quarry, well before construction began, in his search for suitable local building materials for the new church.


Architectural training


The exact dates of Crossland’s pupillage in Scott’s office are not recorded. His maximum period of training could have been six years, but it was probably nearer to four years, which was then the normal length of time of articles for architectural pupils.15 He served his articles between 1852 (when he was eighteen) and finished, at the latest, in 1858 when he established his own practice. He learned his craft alongside several other trainees who were also to go on to become successful and influential architects in their own right, with whom he became well acquainted and formed friendships. Among others, he probably worked with Scott’s own sons, George Gilbert Scott Junior and John Oldrid Scott, but they were both younger than Crossland and, as the master’s sons, less likely to form close friendships with older trainees. He may well have become acquainted with fellow Yorkshireman George Frederick Bodley (from Kingston-upon-Hull) even though he was about eight years older than Crossland. Thomas Graham Jackson was the same age as Crossland, but joined the practice at around the time that Crossland left to set up on his own. He also overlapped a year or two with Charles Buckeridge and Thomas Garner.


It would have been surprising if Crossland had not taken full advantage of the entertainments and opportunities offered by the capital. Details are not known, but at some time during his training in London, he became acquainted with a young Londoner named Lavinia Pigot, who was later to become his wife.


All of Scott’s trainees absorbed and practised Scott’s strong views on architectural style. Scott believed that Gothic was the only truly national style and that it was applicable to all types of buildings. He was, though, primarily a church architect with a mission to bring to the prevailing frenzy of church-building the ideas of A.W.N. Pugin, who had so inspired him. So prolific was Scott himself and so thoroughly and convincingly did he imbue his many pupils with the spirit of Pugin that Gothic became the most used style for churches and chapels in their works, reflecting its wider predominance at the time.


A picture of life in Scott’s practice was given by his pupil T.G. Jackson:




Scott’s office was a very large one. Counting pupils, salaried assistants, and clerks, I think we were twenty-seven in all. I was put to work in the first-floor room at the back with six others; there were about a dozen more in two rooms on the second floor; the ground-floor front room, which served also as the waiting room, was the sanctum of Mr Burlison, the head man, who made the estimates and surveys. Scott’s own room was the ground-floor back, and farther back still were the writing-clerk and the office-boys. The front room first-floor was let to a Mr Moriarty, a barrister, a mysterious person whom we never saw. Of Scott we saw but little. He was up to the eyes in engagements and it was hard to get him to look at our work. I have seen three or four men with drawings awaiting correction or approval grouped outside his door. The door flew open and out he came: ‘No time to-day’: the cab was at the door and he was whirled away to some cathedral where he would spend a couple of hours and then fly off again to some other great work at the other end of the kingdom. Now and then the only chance of getting instructions was to go with him in the cab to the station. I see I wrote at the time, ‘What a fine thing it is to be so busy’; but looking back from my present standpoint I find nothing in such a career to envy, and much to wonder at. It need hardly be said that it is an impossibility really to direct so large a staff as Scott’s; but the work had of course to be done somehow. The heads of different rooms were capable men with a good knowledge of construction; Scott had a wonderful power of making rapid expressive sketches and from these his men were able to produce work which, curiously enough, did fall into something of a consistent style that passed for Gilbert Scott’s and which one can always recognize wherever one meets with it as coming from that office. There are many amusing tales which show the slight acquaintance he had with what came out of his office: how he admired a new church from the railway carriage window and was told it was one of his own; how he went into a church in process of building, sent for the clerk of works, and began finding fault with this and with that till the man said, ‘You know, Mr Scott, this is not your church; this is Mr Street’s, your church is farther down the road.’16





Jackson paints a picture of an exceptionally busy office, and Crossland will have received his share of delegated work and responsibility, developing not only his skills of draughtsmanship, but also planning, scheduling and financial skills.


The first time the public saw evidence of Crossland’s artistic talent was his exhibition at the Royal Academy in 1855 of a view from the Erasmus Chapel, Westminster Abbey.17 At this time his address was given as 7 Albert Street, Camden Town, close to the area where he was eventually to live when practising in the capital.18


Crossland’s first building


Crossland’s architectural talent first came to the notice of the public in his home town on 25 March 1856, when his name (spelled wrongly) appeared in the local Huddersfield press for the first time, announcing the opening of the Netheroyd Hill and Cowcliffe School, a building he had designed.19 He was only twenty and still a pupil in Scott’s architectural practice in London. He took no fee for the design, probably feeling (or persuaded by his parents) that, as he was not yet qualified, it was not acceptable to do so. He was not present at the opening of the school so he missed the warm reception given to his first building. It was a small structure, costing around £500,20 but his parents doubtless glowed with pride. This talented young local architect was as yet unknown so the Huddersfield Chronicle was at pains to explain not only his generosity, but also who he was and where he was from: ‘The plan was gratuitously furnished by Mr W.H. Crosland, son of Mr Henry Crosland of Longwood House and pupil of G.G. Scott Esq., London.’ 21


The school was in a commanding position on the brow of Cowcliffe Hill. The land for it had been given some four years earlier by Sir John Ramsden, with the purpose of enabling the building of the first school in the area. It was to be a Church of England Sunday School, a school that would teach the poor (adults as well as children) to read the Bible, but not to do writing or arithmetic22 – very possibly the only education some of the pupils would have. A grant towards the construction had been received from the Council on Education23 and the remainder of the funds needed was raised through subscriptions.


Netheroyd Hill was where Crossland had grown up, and he began working on the design of the school in 1855, doubtless at his father’s insistence and as something of a payback for the family’s investment in his education. The local newspaper described the building as having ‘a very handsome appearance’ and being ‘a most appropriate ornament to the locality . . . in the style of architecture which prevailed in England in the early fourteenth century, known as geometrical decorated’.24 Crossland had followed the principles laid down by the Council on Education and was already demonstrating that he had absorbed the Gothic principles of Pugin that had so influenced his master Scott.




[image: image]

1.3 Netheroyd Hill and Cowcliffe School, latterly St Hilda’s Church (1856), was Crossland’s first building. The extension to the left of the main building was added in 1919. Photograph taken in 2017.





Crossland’s training in Scott’s office in London continued for about two more years. George Gilbert Scott recognised Crossland’s ability, as it was at his master’s behest that Crossland returned to the West Riding at the end of his training, and by November 1858, at the age of twenty-four, he had set up his own business – not in Huddersfield, but in Halifax.
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Chapter 2



The Halifax office


Over his lifetime, Crossland was to design many buildings in and around Huddersfield, but he never ran a practice in his home town. He probably worked briefly from his parents’ home when he first returned to the West Riding, but by 1858 he had opened an office in Harrison Road, Halifax, close to the town centre. This was a prestigious area of the town, with professional offices in fine buildings as well as private residences. Crossland was surely pleased to have found office space in this commercially established part of the town.


He had already been commissioned to design a church for Bradley, close to his family home. This commission likely came through his parents or a family contact and was probably initiated during 1858 as he was planning his move back to the West Riding from London. In September 1859, he placed the first of what would be many similar advertisements over the coming years among the classified advertisements in The Huddersfield Chronicle and West Yorkshire Advertiser:




THE PROPOSED NEW CHURCH AT BRADLEY NEAR HUDDERSFIELD.


TENDERS REQUIRED for the ERECTION of this CHURCH, each branch of the work to be estimated for separately, and all estimates to be delivered, under seal, on or before Saturday, 9th October, at the Woodman Inn, Bradley.


Plans and specifications can be seen at the Woodman Inn, from Nine o’clock in the Morning until Six o’clock in the Evening each day from the 3rd until the 9th October.


The committee do not bind themselves to adopt the lowest estimates.


W.H. Crossland, Architect, Halifax.1





There were delays in the building of the church, due to a strike of masons and, apparently, because the building committee wished to employ only local contractors. They secured a Bradley firm of stonemasons to be the main contractors with subsidiary works being provided by tradesmen from Huddersfield and Halifax. Crossland’s youth and inexperience cannot have helped in managing this local dispute, but it seems to have been a useful lesson for him, as in subsequent projects he used local contractors whenever possible. The difficulties with the contractors meant that the building of the Bradley church was to take until 1863. (See pages 38 and 49-50.)


Marriage


By 1859 Crossland was sufficiently financially secure to marry Lavinia Cardwell Pigot, the Londoner he had met a few years earlier while a pupil in Scott’s architectural practice. Their marriage took place on 1 October at the Parish Church of Saint Pancras in London. He was twenty-four and she was twenty-two. In the marriage register, Crossland gave his residence as St John’s, Huddersfield, suggesting that, although he was working in Halifax, he was living near his parents’ home.


Crossland married well. Lavinia’s mother, also Lavinia, was the daughter of John Cumberland, a ‘gentleman’. Crossland’s mother-in-law enjoyed some prosperity in her own right as the owner of several properties in the London parishes of St Pancras and Islington. Lavinia Cardwell’s father had been dead for several years at the time of her marriage to Crossland. Her mother had re-married some nine years earlier in 1850, with her daughter as one of the witnesses. Her mother’s second husband, Robert Monach, was a surgeon and one of the witnesses at the Crossland marriage. He and William Henry seem to have gone on to enjoy an amicable relationship.


After their marriage, William and Lavinia set up home at 6 Trinity Place, Halifax, just a short walk from Crossland’s office. Built some fifteen years earlier2, Trinity Place was an elegant, symmetrically designed parade of fifteen houses. The Crosslands’ neighbours were mostly people of independent means, but included several tradesmen, a solicitor and two clerics: number 15 was the parsonage for Holy Trinity Church.3 Crossland will have been anxious to ensure Lavinia had the kind of domestic support that she was used to, so they employed two servants. Fortunately, labour was cheap and even a newly married middle-class couple would expect to employ a minimum staff of two in their household.4 Their servants were both Huddersfield born: Hannah Beaumont was thirty years old and Mary Wilkinson, who may have been related to Crossland on his mother’s side, was twelve.5 Other than this, little is known about the Crosslands’ home life.
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2.1 Trinity Place, Halifax: the Crosslands’ first home after their marriage in 1859. This was an elegant, modern home for the newly married couple and contributed perfectly to the image of himself that Crossland wished to convey. Picture taken in January 2017.





Akroydon


During Crossland’s apprenticeship with Scott, his master had been commissioned by the Halifax industrialist Edward Akroyd to build a new church and vicarage at Haley Hill in Halifax, opposite the mills of the textile business (James Akroyd and Son, the largest worsted-spinning concern in the country) that Akroyd had inherited from his father in 1847. Akroyd also commissioned a new village community alongside. Edward Akroyd’s commission was important to Scott, his patron’s seemingly limitless funds being a huge attraction. Akroyd was not only a leading local industrialist, but also held numerous prominent public positions. He had a considerable personal interest in and knowledge of architecture6, and Scott and Akroyd cemented their acquaintance through this project. As gratefully noted by Scott in his Recollections, Akroyd was one of a small group ‘who stuck nobly by me’7 during the ‘battle of the styles’ over the Foreign Office building in Whitehall. In 1862, Akroyd published his ideas on housing for poorer people in On Improved Dwellings for the Working Classes with a Plan for Building Them in Connection with Benefit Building Societies.
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